Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-28-2017

City of ID Falls v. H-K Contractors, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44886

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from an erroneous determination by the District Court that Idaho's governmental subdivisions are not part of the "state." This appeal turns on the rules of statutory construction and meaning of the general term "state," and the relevance, for the purposes of statutory construction, of previous decisions made by this Court interpreting a virtually identical term found in a related statute.

<u>Procedural History and Statement of Facts.</u>

On September 1, 2015, the Respondent, H-K Contractors, Inc. ("H-K"), delivered a signed and notarized Storm Drainage Agreement ("Agreement") to the Appellant, City of Idaho Falls ("City"). R Vol. 1, p. 5. On September 22, 2005, the Idaho Falls City Council approved and executed the Agreement. R Vol. 1, p. 5. As part of the Agreement, H-K agreed to convey a parcel of real property by March 1, 2010, to the City. R Vol. 1, p. 5, 13-22. Despite the fact that the City performed all of its obligations under the Agreement, H-K did not convey the property to the City, thus depriving the City of the benefit of the bargain. R Vol. 1, p. 5.

In early 2016 the City was evaluating the use and development of real property it managed for the public's use and benefit, when it discovered that the deed to the gravel pit had not been transferred by H-K, as required by the Agreement. R Vol. 1, p. 5, 24. The City then met with H-K on March 8, 2016, to

discuss the Agreement and then demanded performance in writing on March 9, 2016. R Vol. 1, p. 5, 24. On June 16, 2016, H-K refused in writing to convey the deed, stating an "unnamed City official" told H-K that he was no longer interested in acquiring the property for the City. R Vol. 1, p. 5, 27. In response to the City's inquiry into the identity and authority of the unnamed City official, H-K again refused to convey on August 12, 2016, stating that verbal communication was received from a "City official" releasing H-K from its obligation to perform and, in any event, the Statute of Limitations released H-K from its duty to perform the Agreement because the City government was not part of the "State of Idaho." R Vol. 1, p. 28.

On November 23, 2016, City, as authorized by Idaho Code § 50-301, filed a Verified Complaint to the District Court. R Vol. 1, p. 2. On December 19, 2016, H-K filed a Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Idaho Civil Service Rules, and brief in support of that motion. R Vol. 1, p. 29–39. The City objected and filed a brief in opposition to the Motion to Dismiss. R Vol. 1, p. 40–57. On January 19, 2016, the District Court issued an order holding that the rules of statutory construction prohibited the District Court from reviewing Idaho Supreme Court opinions interpreting the term "state" in Idaho Code § 5-225 as a general reference to Idaho's governmental entities, including Idaho's subdivisions. R Vol. 1, p. 75. As a result, the District Court held that the plain language of § 5-216 required finding

that the City of Idaho Falls did not fall under § 5-216's exemption from the five (5) statute of limitations for written contracts because the term "state" in § 5-216 applied the exemption only to the State of Idaho, and not its governmental subdivions. R Vol. 1, p. 75. The District Court then dismissed this case. R Vol. 1, p. 78.

The City of Idaho Falls then brought this appeal.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's dismissal of a complaint under Idaho Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(6) is reviewed *de novo*. *Taylor v. McNichols*, 149 Idaho 826, 832 (2010).

IV. ISSUES PRESENT ON APPEAL

1. Did the District Court err in holding that the general term "state" in Idaho Code § 5-216 does not include the State of Idaho's governmental subdivisions, such as Idaho's cities and counties?

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court's order applying Idaho Code § 5-216 to the City of Idaho Falls and dismissing this case should be reversed because the District Court incorrectly held the rules of statutory construction prohibited it from reviewing this Court's prior interpretation of the exact same general term, the word "state." The rules of statutory construction require courts to ascribe the ordinary, plain meaning to words in statutes and the rules also require the court to interpret terms in related sections consistently in order to insure harmonious application of related

sections. Sections 5-225 and 5-216 are related because § 5-225 applies § 5-216 to all of Idaho's governmental entities. The District Court's interpretation of the general term "state" in § 5-216 is completely different than this Court's interpretation of the term "state" in § 5-225. Applying different meanings for the same word results in a jarring application of both sections and is in error.

The rules of statutory construction stand against the District Court's erroneous interpretation of the general term "state" as a reference to only the State of Idaho (and not its governmental subdivisions). For example, as this Court has observed, the plain language meaning of the general term "state" means Idaho's government in general. The rules of construction include the principle that the Idaho Legislature is aware of this Court's holdings and interpretations. The Legislature amended § 5-216 using virtually identical language as this Court previously interpreted in § 5-225. By doing so, the Legislature was demonstrating its intent to apply § 5-216's governmental exemption from the five (5) year limitation to all of Idaho's governmental subdivisions.

Even if the general term "state" does not include Idaho's governmental subdivisions—to which the State of Idaho expressly delegates its governmental power—the District Court erred by failing to give each part of § 5-216 a distinct meaning. The words that comprise the governmental exception identify two situations where the exemption applies. The first exemption is for contract lawsuits

that are brought "in the name" of the "state." The second exemption is for lawsuits seeking to enforce a contract "for the benefit of the state." A governmental subdivision of Idaho only exists solely to benefit the public by exercising the State of Idaho's delegated governmental authority. By managing a portion of the public's property, interest, and funds, Idaho's governmental subdivisions provide a direct benefit to the "state." Therefore, contracts held by Idaho's governmental subdivisions are exempt from § 5-216's five (5) year limitation.

Additionally, public policy requires suspending § 5-216's limitations application in situations where public property would essentially be transferred to a private interest. Transferring the public's property and funds for the benefit of a private interest (especially through the application of a statute of limitation) violates Idaho's constitution, no matter how trivial the transfer. Enforcing this statute of limitation against Idaho's governmental subdivisions will generate additional litigation and place additional legal and administrative burdens on Idaho's subdivisions.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court did not correctly apply the rules of statutory construction when it interpreted the general term "state."

The District court erred by failing to apply the plain meaning of the general term "state" in three (3) ways. First, the Court did not apply the rules of statutory construction correctly, which erroneously resulted in an unharmonious application of two (2) Idaho Code sections that use virtually identical language. Second, the Court erred in determining that the general term "state" was not a reference to the government in general. Third, the Court erred in determining that the City's execution of managing its constitutional and legislatively directed duties did not "benefit the state."

1. Section 5-225 is the correct starting point to interpret the meaning of the general term "state" in § 5-216 because the rules of statutory construction require a harmonious definition to be used in related code sections.

As observed by this Court in *Blaine County v. Butte County*, there is a common law rule that exempts government from <u>all</u> statutes of limitations. 45 Idaho 193 (1927). However, it is well established that the Idaho Legislature may adopt statutes to repeal or modify the rules or doctrine of the common law. *See e.g. Mickelsen v. Broadway Ford, Inc.*, 153 Idaho 149, 152–53 (2012). The Idaho Legislature modified the common law governmental exemption from statutes of limitations by adopting Idaho Code § 5-225.¹

When determining the effect of a statute of limitation on the State of Idaho's governmental subdivisions, the correct place to begin is with § 5-225's modification

¹ Idaho Code §§ 5-216 and 5-225 both date back to the beginning of the State of Idaho. Both sections have been renumbered several times since their adoption in 1881. For the sake of clarity, this brief will refer to the sections' numbering as they currently appear in the Idaho Code.

Section 5-225 was previously codified as § 165 in 1881; § 4061 in 1887 and 1909; and § 6618 in 1919. Section 5-216 was previously codified as § 156 in 1881; § 4052 in 1887 and 1909; and § 6609 in 1919. Section 5-216 was amended in 1939 to include the exemption that is the central issue in this case.

of the common law. This Court did that very thing in *Bannock County v. Bell*, 8 Idaho 1 (1901). In *Bannock County*, the question was raised regarding whether § 5-225's use of the general term "state" applied Idaho's statutes of limitations to the State of Idaho's subdivisions. After reviewing the language of the statute, this Court determined that the Legislature had expressly intended the term "state" to be a general reference to government, which included every governmental subdivision of the State of Idaho. *Id.* For this reason, § 5-225 applies § 5-216 to the City.

The rules of statutory construction require courts to insure that they interpret terms in related sections consistently, in order to produce harmonious results between related statutes. Ashely v. Dept. of Health and Welfare, 108 Idaho 1, 2 (1985); St. Luke's Magic Valley Reg. Med. Cntr. Ltd. v. Bd. Of Cnty. Com'rs of Gooding Cnty., 149 Idaho 584, 588 (2010) ("We do not view the Legislature as having intended the word "resources" to have different meanings within Chapter 35, Title 31."). As this Court explained in St. Luke's Magic Valley Regional Medical Center v. Gooding County, terms within different sections of the same chapter of the Idaho Code are presumed to bear the same meaning, "unless there is something to show that there is a different meaning intended, such as a difference in subject-matter which might raise a different presumption." 149 Idaho 584, 589 (2010).

The reason for construing related sections consistently is to avoid constructions of a statute that would result in absurd results. *State v. Yager*, 139

Idaho 680, 689–90 (2003) ("It is a fundamental law of statutory construction that statutes that are in *pari materia* are to be construed together.") The subject-matter in § 5-225 and § 5-216's exemption are the same, *i.e.* whether the "state" is exempt from Idaho's statutes of limitation.

Sections 5-225 and 5-216 both use virtually identical language to address whether the "state" is subject to a statute of limitation. Idaho Code § 5-225 states "The limitations prescribed in this chapter apply to actions brought in the name of the state, or for the benefit of the state, in the same manner as to actions by private parties." (emphasis added). The portion of § 5-216's language that is at issue in this case reads "[t]he limitations prescribed by this this section shall never apply to actions in the name or for the benefit of the state." (emphasis added). The virtually identical language of these two (2) related sections should be constructed together to give the same meaning to the term "state" so that both statutes have a consistent application.

There is no rule or fact in this case that overrides the general principle of statutory construction that terms within related sections have consistent meanings. See Yager, 139 Idaho at 689–90; St. Luke's Magic Valley Reg. Med. Cntr. Ltd., 149 Idaho at 588. While statutes of limitations are generally liberally construed and exemptions to statutes of limitations are strictly construed, see Mendini v. Milner, 276 P. 313, 314 (Idaho 1929), applying different definitions to the same term leads

to absurd results. *Yager*, 139 Idaho at 689–90. Courts are required to interpret statutes so a harmonious application with consistent meanings across related sections is preserved. *Id*.

The District Court erred in concluding that it was not permitted to look to this Court's interpretation of the general term "state" in § 5-225 to interpret § 5-216. R Vol. 1, p. 74. Both of these sections have virtually identical language and both use the uncapitalized general term "state." The District Court erroneously reasoned that, because the language of § 5-216 (in its most narrow reading) was not ambiguous, it was "not permitted to look to extrinsic evidence of legislative intent regarding the meaning [of § 5-216] (including case law interpreting similar language)." R Vol. 1, p. 74.

The District Court's reading of § 5-216 resulted in a jarring, unharmonious application of both § 5-225 and § 5-216. The application of the District Court's erroneous order is this: The word "state" in § 5-225 means "the State of Idaho and all of its subdivisions, including the City of Idaho Falls"; therefore, § 5-216 applies to the City Idaho Falls. Although § 5-216 exempts the "state" from its five (5) year statute of limitations, the word "state" doesn't refer to the City of Idaho Falls, because the word "state" in § 5-216 means "only the State of Idaho. The District Court erred because, when applying both § 5-225 and § 5-216 together, Idaho's subdivisions are the "state" in § 5-225 and then they are not the "state" in § 5-216, depending which

section of Title 5 Chapter 2 the District Court applies. In reality, the general term "state" means all of Idaho's governmental entities no matter which section of Title 5 Chapter 2 is being read.

2. The Legislature's use of the general term "state" has a plain language meaning that refers to the government in general, in contrast to the plain meaning of more specific terms like "state of Idaho" or "political subdivisions."

The plain meaning of statutory terms must take generally accepted principles of English grammar into account to determine the Legislature's intent. *Ada Cnty*. *Prosecuting Attorney v. 2007 Legendary Motorcycle*, 154 Idaho 351, 354 (2013). The fact that the Legislature chose to use the uncapitalized general term "state" in §§ 5-216 and 5-225 indicates the Legislature intended these statutes to apply to all of Idaho's governmental entities.

The District Court's opinion incorrectly suggests that the Legislature intended the terms "state" and "political subdivisions" to occupy two (2) entirely distinct spheres simply because the Legislature has, on occasion, included those two terms in other statutory sections, including two (2) sections in Title 5, Chapter 2 of the Idaho Code: §§ 5-218 and 5-247. However, neither § 5-218 nor § 5-247 use the uncapitalized general term "state." Instead, each of these sections use specific terms and neither addresses exemptions from a statute of limitation.

Idaho Code § 5-218 does not use the general term "state." Instead, the Legislature uses the more specific terms "the state of Idaho" and "any political subdivision thereof." These terms are much more precise and specific than the general term "state," used in both §§ 5-216 and 5-225. In addition, the subject matter of § 5-218 is different than §§ 5-216 and 5-225. Section § 5-218 addresses when a statute of limitation begins to run against "the state of Idaho" and its "political subdivisions." Unlike §§ 5-216 and 5-225, both of which address whether a governmental entity is exempt from a statute of limitation.

Likewise, § 5-247 does not address a temporal statute of limitation at all.

Instead § 5-247 is a manifestation of the Legislature's intent that the Idaho

Attorney General's office be the only department of the State of Idaho that may file a lawsuit against a firearm manufacturer. Like § 5-218, the Legislature does not use the general term "state" in § 5-247. Instead, the Legislature opted for the more specific term, "governmental unit," and then provided a detailed definition for that term². Thus, the Legislature intended § 5-216 to apply to all of Idaho's governmental entities by using the uncapitalized general term "state."

_

² Idaho Code § 5-247(1) - In this section, "governmental unit" means:

⁽a) A political subdivision of the state, including a municipality or county; and

⁽b) Any other agency of government whose authority is derived from the laws or constitution of this state

3. <u>Idaho's cities are the "state" itself because their governing power is merely a delegation of the State of Idaho's own sovereignty and is limited by the Idaho Constitution and the Idaho Legislature.</u>

When interpreting terms in a statute, Idaho courts give the words of the statute their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning. *State v. Taylor*, 160 Idaho 381, 385 (2016). The District Court erred in determining that the plain meaning of the term "state" referred only to the State of Idaho. As discussed above, the term "state" is a general term that, as this Court and other courts have held, is a plain reference to the government in general. *Bannock Cnty v. Bell*, 8 Idaho 1 (1901); *City of Bisbee v. Cochise Cnty*, 78 P.2d 982, 989 (Ariz. 1938).

Idaho's cities are part of the State of Idaho government and are included when the Legislature uses the general term "state." Idaho cities only derive their governmental authority from the Idaho Constitution. Idaho Const. Art. XII, §§ 1-4. The Idaho Constitution expressly identifies Idaho's cities as state subdivisions three (3) times. Idaho Const. Art. VIII, § 2(4) ("municipality" shall include any county, city, municipal corporation, . . . or other special purpose district or political subdivision of the state established by law.") (emphasis added); Idaho Const. Art. VIII, § 3 ("No county, city, board of education, or school district, or other subdivision of the state . . .") (emphasis added); Idaho Const. Art. VIII, § 4 (No county, city, town, township, board of education, or school district, or other subdivision . . .") (emphasis added).

The Idaho Legislature has expressly identified Idaho cities and counties as subdivisions of the state of Idaho more than twenty (20) times in the Idaho Code.³ A typical example of the Legislature's many references to political subdivisions as the "state" appears in Idaho Code § 7-1303(6). In § 7-1303(6) the Legislature states that a "[p]olitical subdivision' means the state of Idaho" including "any incorporated city . . . of the state of Idaho."

This Court has also recognized that cities, like counties, are subdivisions of the state. Big Sky Paramedics, LLC v. Sagle Fire Dist., 140 Idaho 435, 437 (2004) (observing that cities are governmental subdivisions); Village of Lapwai v. Alligier, 78 Idaho 124, 128-29 (1956) (stating that in exercise of their duties and powers, municipalities act as agents of the state performing the state's governmental functions.); City of Sandpoint v. Indep. Highway Dist., 161 Idaho 121, 125 (2016) (observing that government subdivisions, such as cities, may not disregard governmental duties assigned by the legislature.)

The United States Supreme Court also recognizes that cities are a part of the state.⁴ Louisiana v. City of New Orleans, 109 U.S. 285, 287 (1883). ("Municipal"

90

³See Idaho Code §§ 6-902(2); 7-1303(6); 18-5703(b); 20-801(3); 21-101(m); 22-4505; 33-133(1)(a); 39-3502(16); 39-5502; 39-7103; 39-8302; 40-117(6); 41-4102(9); 50-3102; 67-458; 67-2327; 67-6403(f); 67-8002(1); 67-8702; 73-401; and 74-202.

⁴ At the hearing, the District Court suggested that Federal law considered cities as separate from the state governments. Tr. Vol 1, p. 12-13. To the extent that the District Court relied on this erroneous proposition in making its decision, it was in error.

corporations are instrumentalities of the state for the convenient administration of government within their limits."); City of Trenton v. State of New Jersey, 262 U.S. 182, 187 (1923) ("A municipality is merely a department of the state."); Nixon v. Missouri Mun. League, 541 U.S. 125, 140 (2004) (stating that municipal subdivisions are created to exercise "the governmental powers of the State" as is in the state's convenience and discretion).

As subdivisions of the State of Idaho, Idaho's cities exercise the State of Idaho's sovereign power as it is delegated by the Legislature. See Caesar v. State, 101 Idaho 158, 160 (1980). An example consistent with Idaho's doctrine of cities exercising delegated government authority appears in Bisbee v. Cochise County from the Arizona Supreme Court. 78 P.2d 982 (Ariz. 1938). This delegation of sovereignty led the Arizona Supreme Court to correctly determine that the general term "state" included all parts of the state government, including subdivisions of the state. Id. at 986–89. The Arizona Supreme Court held that when a subdivision exercises its limited, delegated sovereignty, it is also an exercise of the universal sovereignty of the state. Id. at 986–87.

A subdivision of a state is not a separate entity from a state, but the state itself. *See id.* The District Court wrongly ignored the fundamental connection between the State of Idaho and its many governmental appendages or expressions. Due to fact that a city's governing authority only emanates from Idaho's

sovereignty, the plain meaning of the general term "state" includes all parts of the State of Idaho's government, including all of its governmental subdivisions (*e.g.* cities).

4. The Legislature was aware of this Court's decisions when it used the very language interpreted by this Court to amend § 5-216 to create the governmental exemption to the five (5) year statute of limitation.

"It is to be presumed that the legislature in enactment of a statute consulted earlier statutes on the same subject matter." State v. Long, 91 Idaho 436, 441 (1967). Idaho courts recognize that some terms and phrases have developed specific meanings or subtexts resulting from consistent judicial interpretation. St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr., Ltd. v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Ada Cty., 146 Idaho 753, 758 (2009). For this reason, when the Legislature amends a statute, courts are to assume that the Legislature has a full knowledge of existing judicial interpretation. Id.

When the Idaho Legislature amended § 5-216, it intended all of Idaho's subdivisions to be exempt from the five (5) year limitation. The Legislature's manifested this intention by using virtually identical terms and phrases that had previously been given specific meanings in *Bannock County v. Bell*. When originally adopted in 1881, § 5-216 did not include the exemption at issue in this case. *See State v. Peterson*, 61 Idaho 50, 97 P.2d 603, 604 (1939). In 1939, the Idaho Legislature amended § 5-216 to include the following exception:

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