Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-28-2017

City of ID Falls v. H-K Contractors, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44886

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE CITY'S COMPLAINT BECAUSE THE CITY'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF IDAHO CODE SECTION 5-216 AND NO EXEMPTION APPLIES.

A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>.

In McCabe v. Craven, 145 Idaho 954, 956-957 (2008), this Court explained the proper

standard of review from an order granting a motion to dismiss and applying a statute of

limitations as follows:

"In reviewing the district court's order granting the motion to dismiss, the standard of review is the same as that used in summary judgment...The standard of review on appeal from an order granting summary judgment is the same standard that is used by the district court in ruling on the motion...Summary judgment is appropriate only when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions on file show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

This Court freely reviews the legal issues related to the statute of limitations.

(Quotations and internal citations omitted.)

B. <u>The Statute Of Limitations Is To Be Liberally Construed</u>, While Exemptions To The Statute Of Limitations Are To Be Strictly Construed.

The District Court correctly identified the rule set forth by this Court that "'[t]he statute

of limitations is general, is to be liberally construed, and must be applied in all cases where an

exception is not specifically made. Statutes creating exemptions are to be strictly construed and

will not be extended by implication.³³⁸ As explained below, the District Court adhered to this rule in applying the statute of limitations to the City's claims.

C. <u>Idaho Code Section 5-216 Applies To Bar The City's Claims Arising From The Written</u> <u>Storm Drainage Agreement</u>.

Idaho Code Section 5-216 imposes a five-year limitation period for "[a]n action upon any contract, obligation or liability founded upon an instrument in writing." Here, the District Court correctly determined that the City's claims for breach of contract and waste accrued on March 1, 2010, but the City did not file suit until November 22, 2016.⁹ As the City's claims arise from the written Storm Drainage Agreement, the District Court correctly concluded that the statute of limitations in Section 5-216 applies to bar the City's claims unless the City proves its claims are exempt from the limitation.¹⁰

D. <u>The Exemption In Section 5-216 For Claims Brought In The Name Or For The Benefit</u> Of The State Does Not Apply To The Claims Brought By The City.

Idaho Code Section 5-216 provides an exemption from the five-year limitation period to actions on a written contract, stating in pertinent part, "The limitations prescribed by this section shall never apply to actions in the name or for the benefit of the state and shall never be asserted nor interposed as a defense to any action in the name or for the benefit of the state..."

The District Court thoughtfully analyzed this language in Section 5-216 and concluded that it did not exempt the City's claims from the statute of limitations. The District Court

⁸ See R. Vol. I., p. 76 (quoting *Mendini v. Milner*, 47 Idaho 439 (1929) (cited with approval in *Peterson v. Gentillon*, 154 Idaho 184, 189 (2013)).

⁹ See R. Vol. I., p. 72.

¹⁰ See R. Vol. I., p. 72.

rejected the City's invitation to construe the reference to "the state" to include "the state *and its political subdivisions*." No such language exists in this section. Rather, the District Court properly noted that the Idaho Legislature "has also been careful to specifically identify the state *and* political subdivisions in certain legislation," having made this distinction several times even within the same Chapter 2, Title 5, Idaho Code.¹¹ Section 5-218 expressly refers to "the state of Idaho or any political subdivision thereof." Section 5-247 expressly defines "governmental unit" to include "[a] political subdivision of the state, including a municipality or county." As the District Court pointed out, "The statute at issue here, I.C. § 5-216, does not include such language. However, the City would have the Court read into § 5-216 such language based on the fact that some sections of the Idaho Constitution and the Idaho Code have included it."¹² Liberally construing the statute of limitations and strictly construing this exemption, the District Court correctly applied the plain language of Section 5-216.

The District Court also properly rejected the City's invitation to "harmoniously" construe Section 5-216 to include cities. The City argued that in *Bannock County v. Bell*, 8 Idaho 1 (1901), this Court liberally construed the term "state" in the statute of limitation in Section 5-225 to include all government subdivisions. Based on this liberal construction in applying the statute of limitation in Section 5-225 to a county, the City urged a "harmonious" interpretation of the exemption in Section 5-216 to treat the "state" as including the City. However, this proposed construction runs directly contrary to the express directive that only statutes of limitations (such

¹¹ See R. Vol. I., p. 73 (italics in original).

¹² See R. Vol. I., p. 73.

as Section 5-225) be construed liberally and that exemptions (such as Section 5-216) be construed strictly. *See Mendini v. Milner*, 47 Idaho 439, 276 P. 313, 314 (1929) (cited with approval in *Peterson v. Gentillon*, 154 Idaho 184, 189 (2013)). Section 5-225 liberally applies all of the statutes of limitations in Chapter 2, Title 5, to the state and its political subdivisions, whereas Section 5-216 carves out a narrow exemption for the state in actions on a written contract. There is nothing "jarring" or "unharmonious" in the District Court's holding.¹³

The District Court focused on the plain, unambiguous language in Section 5-216 and rejected the City's argument that the legislature had *intended* "the state" to include political subdivisions in Section 5-216, but had failed to actually include the language. The District Court cited to this Court for the rule that "where the question is whether the legislature inadvertently left language out of the statute, the missing language is not to be read into the statute by the courts."¹⁴

As further support for its conclusion, the District Court pointed out that the term "state" does not apply to political subdivisions under the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act. Likewise, the District Court would not construe the term "state" to include political subdivisions to extend the exemption provided in Section 5-216 to the City.¹⁵

The District Court also considered, and properly rejected, the City's argument that the phrase, "for the benefit of the state," includes the City. The City laced together an argument that because the City derived its authority from the state and sought to acquire HK's property for

¹³ See p. 9 of Appellant's Brief.

¹⁴ See R. Vol. I., p. 74 (citing Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. Gooding City, 159 Idaho 84, 89 (2015)).

F:\CLIENTS\BJD\9109 - HK Contractors, Inc\Appeal\Respondent's Brief.doc

some future public purpose, which would benefit the citizens of Idaho Falls, who also happen to be citizens of the state of Idaho, then the City's claims should be treated as being brought "for the benefit of the state."¹⁶ The District Court concluded that "[t]he City's argument is an attempt to circumvent the plain language of the statute" and "such a circumvention would result in any entity or person, in any capacity, avoiding the statute of limitations simply because it can trace a benefit of its claim to some resident of the state."¹⁷ The District Court properly rejected the City's argument.

In considering the phrase, "for the benefit of the state," this Court's commentary in *Bevis v. Wright*, 31 Idaho 676, 175 P. 815 (1918), is helpful. In *Bevis*, a county resident and taxpayer challenged Nez Perce County's authority to impose a tax to be used to promote the products and industries of the county at exhibitions. Among other things, the taxpayer argued that the county tax was actually "for the benefit of the state," and therefore the tax should be made uniform throughout the state. This Court rejected that argument and concluded that "[w]hile the state at large might receive some benefit, the principal object sought to be obtained inures to the benefit of the county itself." 175 P. at 816. Here, the likelihood that the state might receive some benefit from the City's private contract for a gravel pit for storm water drainage for the Kensington Park subdivision is even more tenuous. Clearly, the "principal object" of the Storm Drainage Agreement inures to the benefit of the City, not to the state at large.

¹⁵ See R. Vol. I., pp. 74-75.

¹⁶ See R. Vol. I., p. 75.

¹⁷ See R. Vol. I., p. 76.

E. <u>The City's Claims Are Not Exempt From The Limitations Period Under Any Common</u> Law Theory.

In addition to the express exemption from the statute of limitations found in Section 5-216, this Court has recognized a common law exemption from the statute of limitations where the state, as trustee, is performing a high constitutional duty involving public property.

This Court applied this narrow exemption in *State v. Peterson*, 61 Idaho 50, 97 P.2d 603 (1939), allowing the state of Idaho's action to recover public monies loaned from the public school endowment fund created by the Idaho Constitution despite the running of the applicable statute of limitations. The Court reasoned this exemption from the statute of limitations was appropriate because "[t]he higher the sovereignty and the more sacred (not used in a religious sense) and public the function involved the greater the reason for immunity" from the statute of limitations defense. 97 P.2d at 605 (parenthetical in original). The claim in *Peterson* arose from "the *state as trustee* performing a *high constitutional public duty*...the handling of [] public school funds." 97 P.2d at 606 (emphasis added). This Court did not bar the state's claim because "[t]he trust relationship here is of the highest order and should be protected to the utmost." *Id.* The state of Idaho is the highest sovereign. This particular duty was derived from the Constitution, the highest and most "sacred" source of duty. Under these unique circumstances, the Court exempted the claim from the statute of limitations.

The City attempted to analogize its private contract claims against HK to the state's high constitutional claim in *Peterson*, but the District Court easily and correctly distinguished the two. The *Peterson* case involved an action to recover money loaned to private individuals from the

constitutionally established public school endowment fund, whereas the City's action involves no transfer of public property at all. The District Court noted, "The City did not lend public money or property to H-K. In fact, the contract between the parties called for H-K's conveyance of it's [sic] own private property to the City."¹⁸ By applying the statute of limitations to the City's claims, "H-K simply retains private property which it already owned, not public property the City holds in trust." HK never received any public property or public funds.

The *Peterson* case involved the highest sovereign (the state of Idaho) acting in a most sacred function (as constitutional trustee of public school endowment funds), compared to the City's claims in the present case, which involve one of the lowest sovereigns (a municipality) acting in one of the least sacred functions (a purely private contract). With no "trustee performing a high constitutional public duty," the common law exemption to the statute of limitations in *Peterson* does not apply to the City's claims.

Other examples rejecting any common law exemption from the statute of limitations and barring claims by governmental entities include actions to collect a transfer tax, to collect an inheritance tax, to recover fraudulently received public funds, and to recover fraudulently received unemployment benefits. *See White v. Conference Claimants Endowment Commission of the Idaho Annual Conference of the Methodist Church*, 81 Idaho 17 (1959); *Hagan v. Young*, 64 Idaho 318 (1942); *Bannock County v. Bell*, 8 Idaho 1, 65 P. 710 (1901); *Norton v. Department of Employment*, 94 Idaho 924, 926 (1972). If all these examples fall short of the "high

¹⁸ See R. Vol. I., p. 77.

constitutional public duty" required to exempt claims from the statute of limitations, the City's private contractual claim to acquire a gravel pit from HK falls even shorter.

F. <u>Public Policy Supports Application Of The Statute Of Limitations To Bar The City's</u> <u>Claims</u>.

Public policy arguments come into play only where the statute is ambiguous and the court may then consider the reasonableness of the proposed construction, the public policy underlying the statute, and the legislative history of the statute. *See, e.g., KGH Development, LLC, v. City of Ketchum*, 149 Idaho 524, 528 (2010). Here, the District Court found Section 5-216 unambiguous,¹⁹ so public policy is not a proper consideration. Nonetheless, the City offers several public policy arguments to support its proposed interpretation of Section 5-216, listing among its "parade of horribles," the need for cities to become more "aggressive, assertive, and perhaps litigious to protect the public's rights," resulting in waste of public resources.²⁰ However, these public policy considerations, if considered at all, are offset by the public policy supporting statutes of limitation, which includes "protection of defendants against stale claims, and protection of the courts against needless expenditures of resources.' Statutes of limitation are designed to promote stability and avoid uncertainty with regards to future litigation." *Wadsworth v. Dept. of Transp.*, 128 Idaho 439, 442 (1996) (quotation omitted).

As further explained by the Supreme Court of the United States, "Statutes of limitations...are practical and pragmatic devices to spare the courts from litigation of stale claims, and the citizen from being put to his defense after memories have faded, witnesses have died or disappeared, and evidence has been lost...They represent a public policy about the privilege to litigate." *Chase Securities Corp. v. Donaldson*, 325 U.S. 304, 314, 65 S.Ct. 1137, 1142, 89 L.Ed. 1628 (1945)).

More directly, as the District Court explained, "It may be true that in certain scenarios, public policy would preclude a party from avoiding its contractual obligations. However, it is also long-held Idaho public policy to prevent a party who 'sleeps on his rights' from avoiding the application of the statute of limitations."²¹

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the district court's order dismissing the City's complaint.

RESPECTIVELY SUBMITTED this 28th day of September, 2017.

SMITH, DRISCOLL & ASSOCIATES, PLLC